
 

 
 

Meeting: Scarborough and Whitby Area Constituency Planning 
Committee 

Members: Councillors Eric Broadbent, Janet Jefferson, Rich Maw, 
Clive Pearson, Heather Phillips, Subash Sharma (Vice-
Chair) and Phil Trumper (Chair). 

Date: Thursday, 11th July, 2024 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: Sea View Conference Room, Town Hall, St Nicholas St, 
Scarborough, YO11 2HG 

 
Members of the public are entitled to attend this meeting as observers for all those items taken in 
open session. Please contact the named democratic services officer supporting this committee, 
details at the foot of the first page of the Agenda, if you have any queries. 
 
You may also be interested in subscribing to updates about this or any other North Yorkshire 
Council committee. 
 
Recording is allowed at Council, committee and sub-committee meetings which are open 
to the public. Please give due regard to the Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and 
photography at public meetings. Anyone wishing to record is asked to contact, prior to the start of 
the meeting, the named democratic services officer supporting this committee.  We ask that any 
recording is clearly visible to anyone at the meeting and that it is non-disruptive. 
 
The Council operates a scheme for public speaking at planning committee meetings.  Normally the 
following people can speak at planning committee in relation to any specific application on the 
agenda: speaker representing the applicant, speaker representing the objectors, parish council 
representative and local Division councillor.  Each speaker has a maximum of three minutes to put 
their case.  If you wish to register to speak through this scheme, then please notify St John Harris, 
Principal Democratic Services Officer by midday on Monday, 8 July 2024. 
  
If you are exercising your right to speak at this meeting, but do not wish to be recorded, please 
inform the Chairman who will instruct anyone who may be taking a recording to cease while you 
speak. 
 
This meeting is being held as an in-person meeting that is being broadcasted and recorded and 
will be available to view via the following link Live meetings | North Yorkshire Council 

 
 

Agenda 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2.   Minutes for the Meeting held on 9 May 2024 
 

(Pages 3 - 6) 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fedemocracy.northyorks.gov.uk%2Fielogon.aspx%3Flp%3D1%26RPID%3D4447149%26HPID%3D4447149%26Forms%3D1%26META%3DmgSubscribeLogon&data=05%7C02%7CStJohn.Harris%40northyorks.gov.uk%7C06eb409ac8c14b9d750b08dc85fb027a%7Cad3d9c73983044a1b487e1055441c70e%7C0%7C0%7C638532560314589735%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=y6KMH%2Ff5YtMYH%2B%2FonL1UxYBOKc5Gsf%2ByO4l9k%2FFB1xQ%3D&reserved=0
https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/your-council/councillors-committees-and-meetings/live-meetings


 
 

3.   Declarations of Interests  
 All Members are invited to declare at this point any interests, including the nature 

of those interests, or lobbying in respect of any items appearing on this agenda. 
 

4.   (ZF24/00326/FL) - Full application for formation of secure 
dog walking facility with associated parking and access at 
land south-east of Main Street, Irton, Scarborough, North 
Yorkshire 

(Pages 7 - 20) 

 Report of the Assistant Director Planning – Community Development Services 
 
View Plans and Documents 
 

 
5.   (ZF24/00464/RG4) - Full application for demolition of 

existing buildings and erection of new two-storey school 
building (including solar panels on flat roof), with 
associated car parking, landscaping, hard court MUGA, 
playing field, sprinkler tank, bin store and substation at 
Woodlands School, Woodlands Drive, Scarborough, North 
Yorkshire, YO12 6QN 

(Pages 21 - 
44) 

 Report of the Assistant Director Planning – Community Development Services 
 
View Plans and Documents 

 
6.   Any other items  
 Any other items which the Chair agrees should be considered as a matter of 

urgency because of special circumstances. 
 

7.   Date of Next Meeting  
 Thursday, 8 August 2024 at 2.00pm 

 
 
Members are reminded that in order to expedite business at the meeting and enable Officers 
to adapt their presentations to address areas causing difficulty, they are encouraged to 
contact Officers prior to the meeting with questions on technical issues in reports. 
 
Agenda Contact Officer: 
 
St John Harris, Principal Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 01723 383556 
Email: stjohn.harris@northyorks.gov.uk 
 
Wednesday, 3 July 2024 

Page 2

https://planning.scarborough.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S9ITRANSIWR00
https://planning.scarborough.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=SALVH4NSJFQ00


 

 

North Yorkshire Council 
 

Scarborough and Whitby Area Constituency Planning 
Committee 

 
Minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 9th May, 2024 commencing at 2.00 pm. 
 
Councillor Phil Trumper in the Chair plus Councillors Janet Jefferson, Rich Maw, Clive Pearson, 
Heather Phillips and Subash Sharma. 
 
Officers present:   St John Harris (Principal Democratic Services Officer), Katja Harper (Planning 

Officer), Alpha Love-Koh (Lawyer Business and Environment), Hugh Smith 
(Senior Planning Officer) and David Walker (Head of Planning) 

 
Apologies: Councillor Eric Broadbent.    
 

 
Copies of all documents considered are in the Minute Book 

 

 
76 Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies noted (see above). 
 
 

77 Minutes for the Meeting held on 11 April 2024 
 
In respect of the interest he declared at the meeting, Councillor Maw clarified that he had 
been a member of a Scarborough Borough Council working group which considered the 
introduction of adrenaline sports on both the South and North Bay. 
 
Subject to the above amendment, the minutes of the meeting held on 11 April 2024 were 
confirmed and signed as an accurate record. 
 
 

78 Declarations of Interests 
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 
 

 
Planning Applications 

The Committee considered reports of the Assistant Director Planning – Community Development 
Services relating to applications for planning permission.  During the meeting, Officers referred to 
additional information and representations which had been received. 
 
Except where an alternative condition was contained in the report or an amendment made by the 
Committee, the conditions as set out in the report and the appropriate time limit conditions were 
to be attached in accordance with the relevant provisions of Section 91 and 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
In considering the report(s) of the Assistant Director Planning – Community Development 
Services, regard had been paid to the policies of the relevant development plan, the National 
Planning Policy Framework and all other material planning considerations.   
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

Where the Committee granted planning permission in accordance with the recommendation in a 
report this was because the proposal is in accordance with the development plan, the National 
Planning Policy Framework or other material considerations as set out in the report unless 
otherwise specified below.   
 

 
 
79 (ZF23/01919/FL) - Full application for widening and resurfacing of parts of the 

Cinder Track at the Cinder Track between Burniston and Cloughton 
 
Considered :- 
 
The Assistant Director Planning – Community Development Services sought 
determination of a planning application for widening and resurfacing of parts of the Cinder 
Track at the Cinder Track between Burniston and Cloughton on behalf of North Yorkshire 
Council. 
 
The planning officer advised that following deferral of this application at the previous 
meeting, she could confirm that the length of the Cinder Track under consideration was 
already accessible to wheelchair users and equestrians, and the proposed upgrade of the 
track and resurfacing of the ramp would further improve accessibility. 
 
Chris Bourne, as the applicant (on behalf of North Yorkshire Council) spoke in support of 
the application. 
 
During consideration of the above application, the Committee discussed the following 
issues:- 

 That their queries around the Cinder Track’s accessibility had now been addressed 

 The Arboricultural Impact Assessment and the recommended mitigation measures 
reflected in Condition 4 

 The importance of the different users of the Cinder Track respecting each other 
and that dogs be kept under control 

 
The decision:- 
 
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to conditions detailed in the Committee 
report. 
 
Voting Record 
 
A vote was taken and the motion was declared carried unanimously. 
 
 

80 (ZF23/02026/RG3) - Full application for alterations to surfacing of 4 no. tennis 
courts; erection of 6 no. floodlights, secure fencing and gates; provision of 5 no. 
parking spaces; and associated drainage, landscaping and footpaths at 
Scarborough Sports Centre, Filey Road, Scarborough, YO11 2TP 
 
The Assistant Director Planning – Community Development Services sought 
determination of a planning application for alterations to surfacing of 4 no. tennis courts; 
erection of 6 no. floodlights, secure fencing and gates; provision of 5 no. parking spaces; 
and associated drainage, landscaping and footpaths at Scarborough Sports Centre, Filey 
Road, Scarborough, YO11 2TP on behalf of North Yorkshire Council. 
 
Updating the report, the planning officer advised that since the report’s publication, 12 
further objections had been received which raised issues either already addressed in the 
report or not material to this planning application.  In respect of the hours of use of the Page 4



 

 

upgraded facilities, the planning officer confirmed that this would be no later than 9pm and 
no earlier than 7am to mirror the nearby athletics track.  Condition 6 would be amended to 
reflect this requirement.  
 
During consideration of the above application, the Committee discussed the following 
issues:- 

 The adequacy of the proposed car parking 

 The lack of toilet facilities which could lead to users urinating in the vicinity of the 
courts 

 That the proposed restoration of the courts for public use would maintain the 
important historic legacy of the site and address a need identified in the Tennis 
Strategy and on a site designed for such purposes 

 
The decision:- 
 
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to conditions detailed in the Committee 
report and an amendment to Condition 6 as detailed above. 
 
Voting Record 
 
A vote was taken and the motion was declared carried with 4 in favour, 1 against, and 1 
abstention. 
 
 

81 Any other items 
 
There were no urgent items of business. 
 
 

82 Date of Next Meeting 
 
Thursday, 13 June 2024 – Town Hall, Scarborough 
 
 

The meeting concluded at 2.41 pm. 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 

North Yorkshire Council 

Community Development Services 

Scarborough and Whitby Area Constituency 

Planning Committee 

11 JULY 2024 

ZF24/00326/FL - FORMATION OF SECURE DOG WALKING FACILITY WITH 

ASSOCIATED PARKING AND ACCESS AT LAND SOUTH-EAST OF MAIN 

STREET, IRTON, SCARBOROUGH, NORTH YORKSHIRE, ON BEHALF OF 

DAVID BARKER LIVESTOCK (MR DAVID BARKER) 

Report of the Assistant Director/Planning – Community Development Services 

 

 
2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

RECOMMENDATION: That permission be REFUSED for the reasons set out at the end of 
the report. 

 
2.1 This application seeks planning permission for a change of use from 1ha of 
agricultural land to a dog walking field. The site will be accessed from Main Street using 
the existing field entrance. The proposal includes parking/turning space for 3 cars and a 
mobile field shelter. 

 
2.2 The site lies outside the Development Limits of Irton. The site is remote from Irton 
village itself which is a small village without facilities and limited public transport services. It 
is a significant distance from the urban area of Scarborough or any service villages. Given 
the location, many users are likely to drive to the site. Therefore, it is considered that the 
proposal will encourage unnecessary car journeys to and from the site and represents an 
unsustainable form of development. As such the proposed development fails to comply 
with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which requires developments to 
'create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible' and to promote walking, cycling and 
use public transport, and also fails to comply with Policy SD1 (Presumption in Favour of 
Sustainable Development) of the Scarborough Borough Local Plan (2017). 

1.0 Purpose of the report 
 

1.1 To determine a planning application for full planning permission for the formation of 
a secure dog walking facility with associated parking and access on land southeast of 
Main Street, Irton. 

 
1.2 The proposal is being considered by Members of the Scarborough and Whitby 
Planning Committee at the request of the Division Councillor. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



  

OFFICIAL 

↑ 

N 

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown copyright and database right 

2023 Ordnance Survey License number 100017946 

 

Page 8



  

OFFICIAL 

3.0 Preliminary Matters 

3.1 To access and view the case file on Public Access, please use the link below. 

https://planning.scarborough.gov.uk/online- 
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S9ITRANSIWR00 

3.2 There are no records of any planning history for the application site. 

4.0 Site and Surroundings 

4.1 The application site comprises a 1.0ha (2.48 acres) parcel of land within a 5.13ha 
grass field. The site is flat with agricultural land to the south and west, an equine facility 
and caravan site to the east and Main Street to the north. There is a hedgerow along the 
roadside boundary. There are two public rights of way that border the field: a footpath 
located on the southeast boundary; and, a bridleway running parallel to the west. 
Currently, the site and surrounding fields are used for grazing cattle and sheep throughout 
the year, along with the preparation of winter feed. 

4.2 The site is located approximately 300m away from the western edge of the village 
of Irton, reached by a single track road along Main Street. 

4.3 The site is located in the open countryside, outside of the Development Limits of 
any settlement defined in the adopted Local Plan. It is within Flood Zones 2 and 3, and 
within Groundwater Source Protection Zone 1 (SPZ1). The agricultural land is classified as 
Grade 2 (Very Good quality agricultural land). 

5.0 Description of Proposal 

5.1 The proposed development is for the change of use from agricultural land to a 
secure dog walking field for private hire. 

5.2 The application comprises the following elements: 

- The dog exercise/walking area; 
- Secure boundary fencing (1.8m high post and wire mesh); 
- On site parking area; 
- Mobile field shelter. 

5.3 The main gate to the site would be secured by a code access in order to control 
access to the site. The car park would be located in the north-eastern corner of the site, in 
close proximity to the site access, and constructed out of crushed stone over a permeable 
membrane. The hardstanding area would be approximately 160sqm (approximately 9m x 
17m), providing parking space for up to three vehicles. Beyond the car parking area, there 
would be an area of 'Mudcontrol' matting laid on the grass, approximately 50sqm (5m x 
10m), with the new mobile field shelter located to the south of this. 

5.4 Aside from the parking area, the field will remain as a grass field and security will be 
provided through a gate and boundary fence around the perimeter of the field, including an 
internal fence and gate around the proposed dog exercise facility. The dog walking facility 

Page 9

https://planning.scarborough.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S9ITRANSIWR00
https://planning.scarborough.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S9ITRANSIWR00


  

OFFICIAL 

will be fenced with 1.8m high security fencing and gate supported by wooden posts. The 
perimeter fencing will be stock proof wire netting supported by timber posts. 

 
5.5 The new field shelter would be a mono-pitch timber construction, measuring 3.8 
metres in width, 3.6 metres in depth and a maximum height of 2.47 metres. This would 
provide shelter for visitors using the dog facility. No lighting is proposed for the field 
shelter. 

 
5.6 The proposed dog exercise field would be hired out in 30 or 60 minutes blocks, with 
only one booking per time slot allowed. Bookings will be made in advance via a website. 
Each user will be restricted to a maximum of between five and seven dogs on site per time 
slot. 

 
5.7 The site will operate 7-days a week (incl. Bank Holiday), from 7am to 9pm, with no 
bookings to be made outside of these hours, i.e. daylight hours only. In reality, hours of 
operation may be shorter in the winter due to restricted daylight hours (with time slots 
amended online to enforce this), as the field will not be served by artificial lighting. 

 
5.8 Customers will be responsible for removing their own dog waste, using a dog waste 
bin provided. Waste disposal will be done weekly, using an external waste disposal 
contractor. 

 
5.9 In addition to the plans, the application is accompanied by some supporting 
documents (available to view on the Council's website) including: 

 
- Planning, Design and Access Statement 
- Flood Risk Assessment 

 
6.0 Planning Policy and Guidance 

 
6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that all 
planning authorities must determine each planning application in accordance with the 
planning policies that comprise the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 
Adopted Development Plan 

 
6.2 The Adopted Plan for this site is: 
- Scarborough Borough Local Plan 2011 to 2032, adopted 2017. The relevant 
policies are: 

 
Policy SD 1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Policy DEC 1 - Principles of Good Design 
Policy DEC 4 - Protection of Amenity 
Policy ENV 3 - Environmental Risk 
Policy ENV 4 - Groundwater Protection 
Policy ENV 5 - The Natural Environment 
Policy ENV 6 - Development Affecting the Countryside 
Policy ENV 7 - Landscape Protection and Sensitivity 

 
Emerging Development Plan - Material Consideration 

Page 10



  

OFFICIAL 

6.3 There is no emerging development plan which covers the application site. 

Guidance - Material Considerations 

- National Planning Policy Framework 

7.0 Consultation Responses 

7.1 The following consultation responses have been received and have been 
summarised below. The full consultation comments can be viewed on the Council's 
website. 

7.2 Irton Parish Council: No comments received. 

7.3 Local Highway Authority: The applicant proposes to form a new secure dog walking 
facility with the construction of a new access and parking area. The current grass field 
access in the corner of the field does not provide sufficient visibility, however if relocated 
and the hedge was re-aligned the required visibility splay of 33 metres by 2.4 metres could 
be achieved. Any access which meets the required visibility would have to be constructed 
to the required LHA specification. 

7.4 Environmental Health (Regulatory Services): Recommend condition in relation to 
operating hours, to protect the amenity for the nearby residents. 

7.5 Environmental Health (Residential Regulations): No comments received. 

7.6 Drainage Engineers: No objections. 

Local Representations 

7.7 Consultation period expired on 10 June 2024. 103 public comments have been 
received, 74 in objection, and 29 in support. A summary of comments made is provided 
below. The full comments can be viewed on the Council's website. 

Objections: 

- increased traffic 
- disorganised parking 
- no footpaths / road safety 
- noise 
- reduced privacy 
- detrimental environmental impacts (flooding, pollution, waste disposal, wildlife) 
- eye sore in rural landscape 
- danger to horse riders due to barking dogs 
- facility not needed as one available only 1.7 miles away 
- already many walking paths in locality 
- loss of prime agricultural land 
- detrimental impact on adjacent Equestrian site / Caravan Park 
- the business will negatively impact on the quiet village 

Page 11



  

OFFICIAL 

Support: 
 

- secure place to let dogs off lead 
- business positive for village and local businesses 
- reduction in number of people trespassing 
- improved safety for livestock and wildlife 
- not noisy, just safe for dogs 

 
8.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

 
8.1 The development proposed does not fall within Schedule 1 or 2 of the 
Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2017 (as amended). No Environmental 
Statement is therefore required. 

 
9.0 Main Issues 

 
9.1 The main issues are: 

 
- The Principle of Development 
- Visual impact 
- Residential Amenity 
- Loss of agricultural land 
- Highway considerations 
- Biodiversity 
- Flood risk, drainage and groundwater 

 
10.0 Assessment 

 
The Principle of Development 

 
10.1 The application site lies within the open countryside outside of the Development 
Limits of any settlement as defined in the Local Plan. Local Plan Policy ENV6 
(Development Affecting the Countryside) places strict controls over development outside 
Development Limits, and states the character of the open countryside will be protected, 
maintained and where possible enhanced. Outside the defined Development Limits, new 
developments will be limited to those for which a countryside location is essential. This 
includes appropriate recreational related activity. The scale of the proposal should be 
compatible with its surroundings and not have an unacceptable impact on the character 
and appearance of the open countryside or the wider landscape. 

 
10.2 It is considered that dog walking can be described as a recreational activity, and it 
is accepted that the proposed use would require a degree of open land. As such, it is 
considered an appropriate and acceptable land use within a countryside location. As such, 
the proposal is considered to fall within criteria f of Policy ENV6. The impact on the 
countryside is considered in the following section (Visual impact). 

 
10.3 Promotion of sustainable development forms the cornerstone of Planning Policy. 
Policy SD1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development) of the Scarborough 
Borough Local Plan advocates a presumption in favour of sustainable development. The 
NPPF also seeks to advocate sustainable development and states that at the heart of the 
National Planning Policy Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable 

Page 12



  

OFFICIAL 

development, seeking to actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest possible 
use of public transport, walking and cycling. 

 
10.4 The site is remote from Irton village itself which is a small village without facilities 
and limited public transport services. It is a significant distance from the urban area of 
Scarborough or any service villages. Given the location, some users will inevitably drive to 
the site to walk their dogs in a secure field, therefore it is considered that this proposal will 
result in a significant increase in car usage. The effect of allowing this development in this 
remote location would result in unsustainable journeys contrary to the objectives of the 
NPPF. To this extent, the proposal would result in vehicle movements with limited potential 
for more sustainable modes of transport being utilised. As such, the proposed 
development fails to comply with the NPPF and Local Plan Policy SD1. 

 
10.5 The NPPF sets out that decisions should enable development and diversification of 
agricultural business. Paragraph 89 sets out that it will be important to ensure that 
development is sensitive to its surroundings and develops opportunities to make a location 
more sustainable. No information has been submitted to demonstrate that this is a 
diversification of an agricultural business. However, it is not considered that farm 
diversification outweighs the concerns regarding the unsustainable location. 

 
Visual impact 

 
10.6 Both policies ENV6 (Development Affecting the Countryside) and ENV7 
(Landscape Protection and Sensitivity) expect that development should be of a scale 
which is compatible with its surroundings and not have an unacceptable impact on the 
character and appearance of the surrounding landscape. 

 
10.7 Chapter 12 (Achieving well-designed and beautiful places) of the NPPF gives 
advice on design; the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. 
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to 
live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. 

 
10.8 The proposal falls within Character Area K1 of the Landscape Character 
Assessment (2013). The assessment characterises Area K1 as a landscape that has an 
intimate character, which results from the well-established trees and vegetation which 
bound fields, settlement and roads, interspersed small scale features such as streams, 
ponds, and small scale fields, and lack of overt human influences. Despite the close 
proximity to settlement and settlement edge, the landscape retains a deeply rural and 
tranquil character. Essentially this is a quiet rural landscape with only localised variation 
introduced by small scale vernacular villages and settlement edge. 

 
10.9 A new hardstanding access would be created where there is currently a non-gated 
grassed field access. The proposed parking area together with the mud control matting is 
relatively extensive. Three vehicle parking spaces are detailed, however, the area could 
accommodate many more vehicles in practice. The extent of the hardstanding area has 
not been adequately justified and is considered to result in a visually intrusive feature 
within this open landscape. Whilst it is acknowledged that some off-site parking would be 
necessary for operational reasons and highway safety, the extent of works proposed 
would significantly adversely affect the rural character of the existing narrow single track 
lane, which would be unacceptable at this countryside location. The impact on the rural 

Page 13



  

OFFICIAL 

setting and character of the lane and surrounding area would be severe, and would 
therefore not be acceptable in planning terms. 

 
10.10 There is a deciduous hedge to the northern (roadside) boundary of the site; this 
would result in screening during the summer months only. The new fencing (perimeter and 
dog walking field fencing) would be visible during the winter months, being taller than 
traditional agricultural fencing. Although fencing up to 2m could be carried out without 
permission if it were to comply with Schedule 2, Part 6 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, in this case such a fence is only 
required in the context of this proposal for the change of use of land. It is considered that 
the fencing would be out of keeping and results in the site being immediately obvious from 
the public realm. 

 
10.11 Whilst the new field shelter is modest and reflects somewhat the character of the 
context, the development is not in association with an existing farmstead or dwelling and 
would result in an unnecessary building within the open landscape. 

 
10.12 The development would be highly visible from the main road to the north and from 
the public right of way to the west of the site, and the development would not retain the 
existing rural character perceived from the road. By the introduction of high fencing with 
gates, hardstandings and a field shelter, it will detract from the appearance of the 
surrounding landscape and make the site more prominent within it. In the context of the 
wider landscape and its enjoyment by the wider public, it is considered that this proposal 
would have a serious adverse impact. Overall, it is considered that the site cannot 
accommodate the proposed development without significant effects to the landscape 
character or visual amenity of the area. The proposed fencing would be clearly apparent at 
the site entrance and at odds with the existing characteristic rural boundary treatments. 
The car parking areas would detract from the appearance of the landscape, and human 
activity would erode the tranquillity of the site. The proposal would therefore result in 
significant harm to the character and appearance of the area. As such, the proposal does 
conflict with the intentions set out in national and local landscape policies. With this in 
mind, Officers consider the scheme to be contrary to policies ENV6 and ENV7 of the 
Scarborough Borough Local Plan 2017. 

 
Residential amenity 

 
10.13 Policy DEC4 (Protection of Amenity) of the Local Plan concerns the protection of 
amenity. In this instance, the key consideration would be on neighbouring residential 
properties in close proximity. The policy states proposals should not give rise to 
unacceptable impacts by means of [amongst other things] disturbance arising from such 
things as noise, light pollution and other activities. 

 
10.14 The main issue in this case is the effect of noise, principally from dogs barking, on 
the living conditions of nearby residents. Residential properties are situated a limited 
distance from the site. The closest relationship between the proposed dog exercise field 
and existing third party property (the neighbouring dwellings to the northeast of the 
application site) will be approximately 15 metres. Members will note that a number of the 
public representations raise noise concerns. 

 
10.15 Comments received by the Council's Environmental Health Officer have been 
noted, and have been taken into consideration in determining of this application. The 

Page 14



  

OFFICIAL 

Environmental Health Officer raises no objections in principle, only requesting a condition 
relating to operating hours, acknowledging that the site is in close vicinity to sensitive 
receptors. The suggested condition would see the operating hours significantly reduced 
(8am to 6pm Mondays to Friday and 10am to 6pm on Sundays and Bank Holidays) 
compared to what the applicant did propose, to protect the amenity for the nearby 
residents. Your Officers consider these times to be acceptable and providing these are not 
exceeded, consider that noise impact on residents are potentially low as the dogs are 
being walked within a reasonable time frame, and are not likely to disrupt people due to 
the time of day. 

 
10.16 With the benefit of this restriction, it is considered that the proposal would not have 
an unacceptable impact on the amenity of the surrounding occupiers in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy DEC4. 

 
Loss of agricultural land 

 
10.17 The development would result in the loss of Grade 2 agricultural land (Very Good 
Quality Agricultural Land). Para 180 of the NPPF sets out that decisions should contribute 
and enhance the natural and local environment by recognising the intrinsic character and 
beauty of the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem 
services - including the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land, and advises that the availability of agricultural land used for food 
production should be considered, alongside the other policies in the NPPF, when deciding 
what sites are most appropriate for development. 

 
10.18 With the exception of the car park area, most of the application site land could 
easily be returned to agricultural use if required. The land-take of the application is 
considered to be relatively modest and whilst it would result in a loss of very good 
agricultural land, it is not considered to result in sufficient harm as to warrant refusal on 
this basis. 

 
Highway considerations 

 
10.19 NPPF Paragraph 114 requires that all development achieves safe and suitable 
access for all users. It advises at paragraph 115 that development should only be 
prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
Further, paragraph 116 requires development to, inter alia, give priority first to pedestrians 
and cycle movements and create places that are safe, secure and attractive thereby 
minimising the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles. Local Plan 
Policy DEC1 (Principles of Good Design) states that proposals need to provide suitable 
and safe vehicular access and suitable servicing and parking arrangements. 

 
10.20 Members will note that a number of the public representations raise highway safety 
concerns. The Local Highway Authority (LHA) is the statutory consultee on matters relating 
to highway safety and parking and whilst there were no objections in principle, highway 
improvements have been recommended to address the issues of highway safety and 
access to the site. The Highway Authority have noted the deficiencies in respect of the 
local road leading to the site and recommend that highway improvements should be 
provided by the applicant to improve the available visibility to access the site. This would 
include moving the access about 30m further away (to the southwest) from the current 

Page 15



  

OFFICIAL 

access, and hedging would need to be removed and replanted a little further back into the 
field. Any access which meets the required visibility would have to be constructed to the 
required LHA specification, which would be a tarmac crossing/access. It would also mean 
that the existing roadside hedging has to be kept low at all times to retain the visibility 
splays. 

 
10.21 Whilst it is acknowledged that the improvements to the site access are necessary 
for highway safety, these works would significantly adversely affect the rural character of 
the existing narrow single track lane, further eroding the rural character of the area. The 
new access, if allowed, would be clearly apparent in the landscape and at odds with the 
existing characteristic rural boundary treatments. It would detract from the appearance of 
the rural landscape. Ultimately, it is a matter of judgement for the Committee, but your 
Officers consider that the recommended highway improvements cannot be achieved 
without an adverse impact on the setting and character of the area, contrary to Local Plan 
Policy DEC1. 

 
Biodiversity 

 
10.22 Local Plan policy ENV5 (The Natural Environment) requires that proposals should 
respond positively and seek opportunities for the enhancement of species and habitats. 
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 places a duty on 
all public authorities to have regard, in the exercise of the functions, to the purpose of 
conserving biodiversity. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF requires planning decisions to 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by, inter alia, minimising 
impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity. 

 
10.23 The application site is currently used as an arable/grazing field which would have 
an element of regular disturbance, it is considered that the proposal would not result in a 
loss of biodiversity. If the development was considered acceptable, biodiversity net gain 
(as required by local and national policies) could be sought via condition. 

 
Flood risk, drainage and groundwater 

 
10.24 The NPPF requires that suitable drainage strategies are developed for sites, so 
there is no increase in flood risk elsewhere. Local Plan Policy ENV3 (Environmental Risk) 
sets out that Proposals will be expected to mitigate against the implications of 
environmental risk and the effects of climate change. This can be achieved by using 
mitigation measures such as Sustainable Drainage Systems where possible in order to 
facilitate development in areas of sensitive drainage and to meet the requirements of the 
Water Framework Directive; and ensuring development has adequate provision for surface 
water disposal in advance of occupation. The supporting text to the policy sets out that 
adequate provision for surface water disposal and treatment must already exist or be 
provided ahead of occupation of any development. 

 
10.25 The site predominantly lies within land defined by the Environment Agency as Flood 
Zone 2 (land with medium probability of flooding), with a proportion within Flood Zone 3 
(land with high probability of flooding). In their submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), 
the applicants have explained that the site is located in an area that is not at risk of 
Surface Water flooding, and it is deemed unlikely to flood in this area for both groundwater 
and reservoirs. The drains (ditches) running alongside the site are maintained annually. 
The site is located on land higher than the drains and therefore offer an effective natural 

Page 16



  

OFFICIAL 

drainage system for the site. There is no requirement for any further drainage, with the 
land cover remaining as permanent grassland and the hardstanding area being 
permeable. The permeable hardstanding area, matted area and mobile field shelter will all 
be located within flood zone 2, ensuring all visitors, including vulnerable visitors, are at a 
lower risk from any potential flooding. 

 
10.26 The Council's Engineers have been consulted and no objections were raised. 

 
10.27 The whole of the site is located within Groundwater Source Protection Zone 1 
(SPZ1). In brief terms, within SPZ1 there is a requirement to ensure development does not 
harm groundwater, which may be at risk. Local Plan policy ENV4 (Groundwater 
Protection) states that proposals will have to demonstrate that they do not compromise 
groundwater and its abstraction. In this case, the proposal does not fall in the types of use 
restricted by Local Plan Policy ENV4, unless surface water is subject to contamination. 
With this in mind, in accordance with their consultation matrix, as the development is 
unlikely to be 'potentially contaminating' the Environment Agency are not a statutory 
consultee in this case. As such, it is considered that the development will not compromise 
groundwater and its abstraction. 

 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 

 
Not relevant. 

 
11.0 Planning Balance and Conclusion 

 
11.1 The proposed development is in a remote and unsustainable location. The proposal 
would result in vehicle movements with limited potential for more sustainable modes of 
transport being utilised. As such, the proposed development fails to comply with the NPPF 
and Local Plan Policy SD1. 

 
11.2 The proposal would result in significant harm to the character and appearance of 
the area. As such, the proposals do conflict with the intentions set out in national and local 
landscape policies. As such, the scheme is contrary to Local Plan Policies ENV6 and 
ENV7. 

 
11.3 Fundamental improvements to the site entrance are considered necessary to 
provide a safe and suitable access to the development to improve the available visibility to 
access the site. Fundamentally, the proposed access is technically unacceptable from a 
highway safety perspective. The required changes would significantly adversely affect the 
rural character of the existing narrow single track lane, further eroding the rural character 
of the area. The new access, if allowed, would be clearly apparent in the landscape and at 
odds with the existing characteristic rural boundary treatments. As such, the scheme is 
considered contrary to Local Plan Policies DEC1, ENV6 and ENV7. 

 
11.4 Consequently, the development is not considered to comply with the relevant 
policies of the Scarborough Borough Local Plan 2011 to 2032. Refusal is therefore 
recommended. 

 
12.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
12.1 PERMISSION BE REFUSED, for the following reason(s) 

Page 17



  

OFFICIAL 

1 The proposed development is in a remote and unsustainable location, therefore 
some users will inevitably drive to the site to walk their dogs in a secure field, therefore it is 
considered that this proposal will result in a significant increase in car usage. Irton village 
itself is a small village without facilities and limited public transport services. It is a 
significant distance from the urban area of Scarborough or any service villages. The 
proposal would result in vehicle movements with limited potential for more sustainable 
modes of transport being utilised. As such the proposed development fails to comply with 
the National Planning Policy Framework, which requires developments to 'create places 
that are safe, inclusive and accessible' and to promote walking, cycling and public 
transport, and also fails to comply with Policy SD1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development) of the Scarborough Borough Local Plan (2017). 

 
2 It is considered that the site cannot accommodate the proposed development 
without significant effects to the landscape character or visual amenity of the area. By the 
introduction of high fencing with gates, hardstandings and a field shelter, it will detract from 
the appearance of the surrounding landscape and make the site more prominent within it. 
In the context of the wider landscape and its enjoyment by the wider public, it is 
considered that this proposal would have a serious adverse impact. Overall, it is 
considered that the site cannot accommodate the proposed development without 
significant effects to the landscape character or visual amenity of the area. The proposed 
fencing would be clearly apparent at the site entrance and at odds with the existing 
characteristic rural boundary treatments. The car parking areas would detract from the 
appearance of the landscape, and human activity would erode the tranquillity of the site. 
The proposal would therefore result in significant harm to the character and appearance of 
the area. 

 
As such, the scheme is considered contrary to Policies ENV6 (Development 

Affecting the Countryside) and ENV7 (Landscape Protection and Sensitivity) of the 
Scarborough Borough Local Plan (2017), and section 12 (Achieving well-designed and 
beautiful places) of the NPPF. 

 
3 Fundamental improvements to the site entrance are considered necessary to 
provide a safe and suitable access to the development. To improve the available visibility 
to access the site, it is required to move the access about 30m further away (to the 
southwest) from the current access, and hedging would need to be removed and replanted 
further back into the field. Any access which meets the required visibility would have to be 
constructed to the required Local Highway Authority specification, which would be a 
tarmac crossing/access. Roadside hedging would have to be kept low at all times to retain 
the visibility splays. 

 
Fundamentally, the proposed access is technically unacceptable from a highway 

safety perspective. The required changes would significantly adversely affect the rural 
character of the existing narrow single track lane, further eroding the rural character of the 
area. The new access, if allowed, would be clearly apparent in the landscape and at odds 
with the existing characteristic rural boundary treatments. 

This would be unacceptable at this countryside location, and would therefore not be 
acceptable in planning terms. 

 
As such, the scheme is considered contrary to policies DEC1 (Principles of Good 

Design), ENV6 (Development Affecting the Countryside) and ENV7 (Landscape Protection 
and Sensitivity) of the Scarborough Borough Local Plan (2017). 

Page 18



  

OFFICIAL 

Target Determination Date: 20 June 2024 

Case Officer: Mrs Katja Harper 
katja.harper@northyorks.gov.uk 

Page 19

mailto:katja.harper@northyorks.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 

North Yorkshire Council 

Community Development Services 

Scarborough and Whitby Area Constituency 

Planning Committee  

11 JULY 2024 

ZF24/00464/RG4 – DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS AND ERECTION OF 

NEW TWO-STOREY SCHOOL BUILDING (INCLUDING SOLAR PANELS ON 

FLAT ROOF), WITH ASSOCIATED CAR PARKING, LANDSCAPING, HARD 

COURT MUGA, PLAYING FIELD, SPRINKLER TANK, BIN STORE AND 

SUBSTATION AT WOODLANDS SCHOOL, WOODLANDS DRIVE, 

SCARBOROUGH, NORTH YORKSHIRE, YO12 6QN, ON BEHALF OF 

GALLIFORD TRY CONSTRUCTION LTD 

 
Report of the Assistant Director/Planning – Community Development Services 

 

 

2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

RECOMMENDATION: 

2.1 Full planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing school buildings 
and redevelopment of the site to erect a replacement L-shaped school building with solar 
panels on the roof, and associated parking, landscaping and external sport/recreation 
facilities. The existing access into the site would be retained and modified. Should 
permission be granted, the existing school facility will remain open whilst the new school 
facility will be constructed, resulting in a phased development. 

 
2.2 The principle of new and/or improved educational facilities is supported through 
Local Plan Policies and no objections have been received by statutory or non-statutory 
consultees. The proposed development is considered by your officers to comply with 
relevant Local and National Planning Policies and is recommended to be permitted with 
conditions. 

1.0 Purpose of the report 
 

1.1 To determine planning application reference ZF24/00464/RG4 for the above 
development at Woodlands Academy, Woodlands Drive, Scarborough. 

 
1.2 The application is a major development which raises significant planning 
considerations and therefore in accordance with the North Yorkshire Council Area 
Constituency Planning Committees Scheme of Delegation, the application falls to be 
determined by the Scarborough and Whitby Constituency Area Planning Committee. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



Page 2 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

↑ 

N 

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown copyright and database right 

2023 Ordnance Survey License number 100017946 

 

Page 22



Page 3 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

3.0 Preliminary Matters 

3.1 Access to the case file on Public Access can be found here: 

https://planning.scarborough.gov.uk/online- 
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=SALVH4NSJFQ00 

 
4.0 Site and Surroundings 

4.1 The application site is in relation to the Woodlands Academy located on Woodlands 
Drive in Scarborough. The school is located within the development limits, to the Western 
periphery of Scarborough with the application site measuring 2.35 hectares. The existing 
school is a series of ad-hoc buildings situated in the South-East quadrant of the site and 
currently has 136 pupils and 62 FTE (full-time equivalent) members of staff. 

4.2 The site has a singular access from the South into a parking area and circulation 
area. The remaining area on site is used for hard play facilities and playing fields, with 
scattered trees and vegetation within the site. 

4.3 The area is predominantly residential in nature, however there is a variety of uses in 
the nearby vicinity, including Scarborough Hospital to the immediate North, another 
education facility (Graham School) 200m to the West, a pre-school and a public house. 
Woodlands Drive is tree lined. 

5.0 Description of Proposal 

5.1 The applicant (Galliford Try on behalf of Woodlands Academy) is seeking approval 
for the demolition of the existing school building/s and the erection of a two-storey L- 
shaped replacement school building, with associated landscaping, reconfigured and 
increased car parking facilities, pupil drop off zone, additional pedestrian access points, 
reconfigured external playing/sports facilities (including Multi-Use Games Area) and the 
installation of solar panels on the rooftop of the replacement building. 

5.2 The replacement school building is proposed to be two storeys, with a height of 
9.3m measured from the ground floor to the flat roof. The total external footprint (measured 
externally) would be 1875sqm, and the total internal floor area of the building is 3250sqm, 
which represents a 540sqm increase compared to the existing building to be removed. 

5.3 The existing school would remain open during the construction works of the new 
school, prior to being demolished when the new facility is completed and opened. The 
existing playing fields on site would be removed to facilitate the development of the new 
school building. 

5.4 The redevelopment of the school is funded by the Department of Education as Part 
of the School Rebuilding Programme and is for children aged 2-16 with special educational 
needs. The purpose of the funding programme is to produce improved quality condition, 
more energy-efficient school facilities. The number of pupils and full-time staff would 
remain unchanged through the development. 

Page 23

https://planning.scarborough.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=SALVH4NSJFQ00
https://planning.scarborough.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=SALVH4NSJFQ00


Page 4 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

5.5 The application follows a pre-application enquiry made by the developer, and a 
public engagement event was held by the developer prior to the application being 
submitted. Specifically, flyers were handed out to nearby addresses and comments were 
welcomed at the event. 

 
5.6 The application includes the erection of a substation, located in the South-West 
quadrant of the site to the West side of the access. The substation is rectangular in shape, 
measuring 22sqm with a maximum height of 2.6m. The substation is of a standard GRP 
(Fibreglass) design. 

 
5.7 The proposed building would have solar panels situated on the roof of the school 
building, which would cover the majority of the proposed roof area, in rows, sloped with a 
10-15-degree tilt to partially face the sun. The solar panels face either East or West, and 
each panel measures 11.3m x 1.75m with tempered solar glass panel with anti-reflective 
coating. 

 
5.8 Ventilation details have been supplied which shows the installation of several roof 
mounted air source heat pumps. 

 
5.9 The external sports facilities would be located primarily to the East of the site, 
although the Multi-use Games Area (MUGA) would be positioned centrally close to the 
Northern border. None of the external playing facilities would be illuminated but would be 
available for community use. 

 
6.0 Planning Policy and Guidance 

 
6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that all 
planning authorities must determine each planning application in accordance with the 
planning policies that comprise the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 
Adopted Development Plan 

 
6.2 The Adopted Plan for this site is: 
- Scarborough Borough Local Plan 2011 to 2032 adopted 2017 

Emerging Development Plan - Material Consideration 

6.3 There is no emerging development plan which covers the application site. 
 

Guidance - Material Considerations 
 

- National Planning Policy Framework 2023 
- National Planning Practice Guidance 
- National Design Guide 
- NYCC SuDS Design Guidance 

 
7.0 Consultation Responses 

 
7.1 The following consultation responses have been received and have been 
summarised below. 

Page 24



Page 5 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

7.2 Archaeologist - No known archaeological remains within the area indicated on the 
site plan. No objections to the proposal. 

7.3 Arboricultrual Officer - No objections raised. 

7.4 Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) - It doesn't appear that there are any aerodromes 
within 5km of the site. However, there is a helipad close to the scheme at Scarborough 
General Hospital. It is recommended that the hospital are consulted to check whether they 
require any reassurances to the safeguarding of their operations. Should the hospital 
require assurances, an assessment would need to be undertaken which determines 
whether the scheme is likely to impact flight paths to the helipad. Depending on the 
proximity, there could be further considerations required such as thermal lift generated by 
the panels and/or interference with communication/navigation/surveillance equipment. 

7.5 North Yorkshire Police Designing Out Crime Officer - Initially sought further 
information in relation to a management plan, designated parking for motorcycles, cycle 
parking, CCTV provision protection for the curtain walling and additional lighting. Upon 
receipt of additional information, no objection was raised subject to a community use 
agreement being undertaken by the developer. 

7.6 Ecology - There are no issues with protected species or habitats and the ecological 
assessments included with the application are sound. The findings of the EcIA and bat 
assessments are agreed with, in regard to the site is of low habitat value and low potential 
for roosting bats. Therefore, there is no ecological objection with this site's development 
providing that the recommendation for mitigation and enhancement provided in the 
ecological assessments are followed. The construction environment management plan 
(CEMP) and the Biodiversity Enhancement Management Plan (BEMP) are comprehensive 
and satisfactory for the purpose of this development. The submitted Biodiversity Net Gain 
(BNG) metric is satisfactory with results for habitat and hedgerow varying from very low to 
medium. On-site enhancements of medium or higher distinctiveness habitats on this site 
includes other broadleaved woodland, urban trees and other neutral grassland but have 
low difficulty of creation. The creation of such habitats can therefore be secured by 
planning condition. The statutory framework requires a Biodiversity gain plan to be 
submitted and approved by the planning authority to discharge the plan condition prior to 
the commencement of development. The plan would set out how the biodiversity gain 
objective of at least 10% would be met for the development granted planning permission. 
The BNG plan must be submitted in writing, no earlier than the day after the granting of 
permission, however a draft plan may be submitted alongside the application for 
information which would allow the plan to be discussed with the Local Planning Authority. 

 
7.7 Environmental Health CRT - No objection but several mitigation measures are 
recommended, which can be added as conditions. This included a dust management plan 
which was submitted by the developer and is suitable. No objection is raised to the 
information subject to the details being adhered to. 

 
7.8 Highways - Initially responded requesting additional information/alterations in regard 
to several highways matters, both during construction phase and after the new school 
facility is operational. Upon receipt of additional information, no objection is raised by 
highways, but it was still requested that a dropped crossing is installed on Woodlands 
Drive which connects the site to the Southern side of the Drive. Following discussions with 

Page 25



Page 6 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

the LPA and the developer, a second full response was received from Highways which 
indicated that no objection is raised subject to conditions. A section 184 is required for the 
delivery of off-site highway works. 

 
7.9 Landscape architect - No comments to make in regard to the application. 

 
7.10 Scarborough Hospital - The submitted Glare and Glint Assessment has been 
shared with the helicopter operators for comments and no objection has been received. 
Flying over the Woodlands Academy is not part of the recognised flight paths for 
helicopters arriving and departing the helipad. In regard to the developers utilising the 
hospital emergency vehicle access road access for construction works - the hospital has 
agreed, in writing, that this is appropriate subject to various measures which need to be 
finalised between both parties. 

 
7.11 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) - Initially requested further details in regard to 
peak flow control and volume control, the submission of an exceedance flow plan, pollution 
control, maintenance plan for temporary flood risk measures and measures to mitigate 
against climate change and urban creep. This information was subsequently submitted by 
the developer to which the LLFA raised no objection subject to the plans/documents being 
adhered to. Conditions are recommended to ensure this. 

 
7.12 Sport England - No objection raised subject to a condition which requires a 
community use scheme being submitted to the LPA and agreed, and a detailed 
assessment in relation to ground conditions of the proposed playing field and a detailed 
scheme which ensures that the playing field would be to an acceptable quality, including 
soil structure, drainage and other operations. Further information in regard to these 
measures was submitted by the developer, which was assessed by Sport England, who 
maintained a stance of no objection and agreed to a slight amendment to the wording of 
the conditions. 

 
7.13 Yorkshire Water - No direct objection was made to proposed development but 
further information is required in regard to water supply details, piped discharge of surface 
water and alterations to the submitted flood risk and drainage strategy (dated 24/05/2024). 
The requested information has been sent to Yorkshire Water for further comment, however 
no further comment was received. 

 
Local Representations 

 
7.14 The application has been advertised by means of site notice and press notice. One 
comment was received by a resident which broadly supported the application but raised 
concern with the off-site parking to the South of the site. Which is likely to be on 
Hovingham Drive which already suffers from staff and patient parking for the hospital, and 
it is unclear as to where contractors would park. 

 
8.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

 
8.1 The development proposed does not fall within Schedule 1 or 2 of the 
Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2017 (as amended). No Environmental 
Statement is therefore required. 

 
9.0 Main Issues 

Page 26



Page 7 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

9.1 The main issues are: 

- Principle of Development 
- Impact on Amenity 
- Design and Impact on Visual Amenity 
- Impact on Ecology/Biodiversity 
- Highways Safety 
- Impact on Trees 
- Flood Risk 
- Renewable Energy 
- Impact on Open Space and Recreation 
- Other Matters 

 
10.0 Assessment 

 
Principle of Development 

 
10.1 Local Plan Policy HC10: Health Care and Education Facilities is the starting point 
for the consideration for the proposed development which states that access to high 
quality education would be encouraged by supporting proposals for new and/or improved 
education and health care facilities. Paragraph 99 in the NPPF states that there should be 
sufficient choice of school places available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities. Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) should take a positive approach in 
meeting this requirement, supporting development which would widen the choice of 
education. The site is located within the development limits of Scarborough, which is at the 
top of the hierarchy in Local Plan Policy SH1 for expected growth in the Local Plan Area. 

 
10.2 The proposed development is the redevelopment of the site, which would remain 
open during construction works of the replacement new school. The proposed 
development is considered to be in compliance with Local Plan Policy HC10 and SH1 and 
is acceptable in principle subject to other local and national planning policies being 
complied with. 

 
Impact on Amenity 

 
10.3 The academy is located on Woodlands Drive, in an area which contains a high 
number of residential properties. The replacement school would not increase the pupil and 
staff numbers on site, and it is hence unlikely that the proposed development would lead to 
any significant increase in the activity, noise and general disturbance which may impact 
existing and future residents. 

 
10.4 Although, the proposed development contains individual aspects which have the 
potential to impact neighbouring properties, such as the school being repositioned to the 
Eastern part of the site, which brings it closer to the properties located on Quaker Close. 
However, the separation distance between the East-facing elevation of the school building 
and Eastern boundary line, shared with the closest neighbouring property would be 16.5m. 
The distance between the closest residential property and School's Eastern facing 
elevation would be 24.5m. Both of these distances are considered to be significant, and 
the repositioning of the building would not have a direct overshadowing or overbearing 
impact on the neighbouring properties. The Eastern elevation contains 2 x windows which 

Page 27



Page 8 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

are to serve an office building and a sensory room, which would face partially onto Quaker 
Close, separated by an area of increased landscaping. In your officer's view, the 
separation distance and the increased landscaping on the Eastern boundary would ensure 
adequate levels of privacy for the residents on Quaker Close. 

 
10.5 The properties on the Southern side of Woodlands Drive are located at significant 
distances (50m+) and the direct impact of the replacement school building on these 
properties in terms of amenity would be considered to be very limited. 

 
10.6 The development includes the repositioning of external play and sports facilities, 
primarily situated centrally and in the Eastern part of the site, away from residential 
properties. The MUGA is located at a separation distance of c.105m to the properties on 
the Southern side of Woodlands Drive, and 85m to the properties on Quaker Close to the 
East. The new playing fields are located in the West of the site, with the nearest point of 
the 5v5 pitch being c.50m from the properties on the Southern side of Woodlands Drive. 
Woodlands Drive itself, with associated vehicular noise, intersects the playing fields and 
these properties. There is no minimum distance expected between such facilities and 
nearby residential properties within Local Planning Policies. However, the impact of noise 
and general disturbance is a material consideration as outlined through Local Plan Policy 
DEC4: Protection of Amenity. It is considered that the separation distances to nearby 
residential properties is sufficient, and the Noise Impact Assessment outlines that the 
expected noise output of these elements would not exceed expected levels within 
residential areas. There would be no lighting associated with either the playing fields or 
MUGA which naturally limits the operational time to daylight hours only. 

 
10.7 The proposed solar panels have the potential to impact neighbouring properties 
through glare and glint. A glare and glint Assessment has been submitted to support the 
development which outlines that the panels would have a low impact, and no further 
mitigation is recommended. 

 
10.8 The proposed development is considered to be in compliance with Local Plan 
Policy DEC4: Protection of Amenity and is acceptable in terms of its impact on amenity. 

 
Design and Impact on Visual Amenity 

 
10.9 The development includes the demolition of the existing school facilities on site, 
which are a series of ad-hoc structures which do not possess defined architectural or 
design qualities. The buildings currently have a neutral impact on the character of the 
street scene, are not listed and are not located in a Conservation Area. The demolition of 
the buildings would therefore not have a detrimental impact on the character of the area. 

 
10.10 Local Plan policy DEC1 requires that proposals to reflect the local environment and 
create an individual sense of place with distinctive character, and respond positively in 
terms of scale, form, height, layout, materials, colouring, fenestration and architectural 
detailing. The layout, orientation and design of buildings should also help to reduce the 
need for energy consumption and provides suitable and safe vehicular access and parking 
arrangements. Developments should be designed with an appropriate public realm and 
landscaping scheme to enhance the natural and built environment. 

 
10.11 The replacement building is an L-shaped structure, also with a flat roof, which is 
purpose built and offers a modernised appearance compared to the existing building. The 

Page 28



Page 9 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

palette of external materials includes multiple shades of brickwork, cladding, aluminium 
curtain walling, multi-coloured louvred panels and glazed ceramic coated windows. The 
materials are considered to be high quality and have been supported by a detailed 
external materials key and 3D external views plan. The general appearance is that of a 
typical modern educational facility in the county, and wider afield. It is of a scale which is 
proportional to the entire site, is set back from the road by a similar distance to the existing 
building and respects the character of the surrounding area. 

 
10.12 The building itself is proportional to the plot, and whilst it is larger than the building it 
replaces, this is by a fairly small amount (540sqm) given the size of the plot. The 
development would be facilitated by the removal of a small number of trees which would 
be replaced by an extensive landscaping scheme, with the removed trees to be replanted 
on a 3-to-1 basis. To the front of the proposed building would be extensive planting which 
relates well to the character of the area, with the Woodlands Drive being tree-lined. 

 
10.13 The proposed substation would be located within a fairly prominent position on site, 
to the immediate West of the access road and would therefore be visible. However, the 
substation is small in scale, and substations of this type are common features within the 
public realm. There is extensive planting on frontage of the site which would partially 
screen the substation from view which is an essential element of the development for 
energy supply. The substation is considered to be acceptable in terms of design. 

 
10.14 The majority of the rooftop of the proposed building would be covered with solar 
panels, which would be largely screened from view by proposed building's parapet roof 
and additional landscaping in the site. In your officer's view, the solar panels would not be 
detrimental to the character of the area. 

 
10.15 The proposed development is considered to be in compliance with Local Plan 
Policy DEC1: Principles of Good Design and is acceptable in terms of design. 

 
Impact on Ecology/Biodiversity 

 
10.16 The application has been supported by a series of ecological documents including 
an Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA), Bat emergence survey report, Construction 
Environment Management Plan (CEMP), Biodiversity enhancement management plan 
(BEMP), and Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment and metric. 

 
10.17 The Council's ecologist has been consulted on the proposal, and has considered 
the aforementioned documents, agreeing with the findings. Subsequentially, the scheme 
has been supported by the Ecologist subject to the mitigation and enhancement measures 
being undertaken in suitable timeframes. It is recommended that these measures are 
covered through planning conditions. Primarily, the ecological enhancements on site would 
be achieved through the implementation of the ecological enhancements plan. 

 
10.18 Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) requirements came into force for major planning 
applications submitted after January 2024. As such, the developer must deliver a BNG of 
at least 10%. The submitted plans outline how this is intended on being achieved on site, 
with a baseline assessment of the existing habitats included. No objection has been raised 
by Ecology to the information at the current stage although a statutory pre-commencement 
condition would need to be attached to any planning approval. The condition requires 
developers to submit and agree a biodiversity gain plan to the LPA. 

Page 29



Page 10 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

10.19 The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of 
Biodiversity/Ecology, is in accordance with Local Plan Policy ENV5: The Natural 
Environment. 

Highways Safety 

10.20 The development does not seek to form additional vehicular accesses into the site, 
but rather seeks to make alterations to the existing access which is located to the South- 
West of the site. The proposed access would be two-way leading to the main staff parking 
area containing 44 staff parking spaces, and 2 minibus spaces. A separate car park is 
proposed to the East containing 5 visitor spaces and 2 blue badge spaces. A total of 51 
spaces are proposed, an increase from the existing number of 34 spaces. The layout also 
proposes a dedicated drop-off and pick-up area, and 10 staff and pupil cycle spaces 
provided in a shelter. These would be brought into use prior to the new facility becoming 
operational. Additionally, two pedestrian accesses are located along the site frontage. The 
dimensions of the proposed parking spaces would be in line with local highways 
requirements, and a planning condition would be attached that ensures the parking 
spaces, access and manoeuvring areas are hard surfaced. 

 
10.21 The local highways authority (LHA) has been aware and involved with the proposed 
development from the pre-application enquiry stage. Members will note from the LHA's 
response that some concerns and queries to the initial scheme, however it has undergone 
positive amendments since pre-application stage. Whilst a direct objection was not raised 
by the LHA, further details were sought, primarily tp ascertain how the existing facility 
would be kept open whilst the new building would be constructed. 

 
10.22 A substantial amount of detail, including a travel plan, has been presented which 
outlines that the site would effectively be split into two. The existing facility would continue 
to be accessed by Woodlands Drive, whilst the development site would be accessed by 
the emergency access for the adjacent hospital to the North, via Scalby Road. 
Scarborough Hospital have been consulted on the proposal and a hospital representative 
has confirmed that the arrangement has been agreed providing confirmation in writing. 
Additional information has been submitted to support this arrangement which colleagues in 
Highways have assessed and not raised objections. 

 
10.23 The project would be phased with an initial enabling phase for the creation of the 
temporary site access to the North, then phase 1 being the construction of the school, 
phase 2 being the demolition of the existing school and phase 3 being the removal of the 
internal access road and instatement of soft landscaping in this area. 

 
10.24 Pupil drop-off would continue to be at the school at every stage of the construction 
process, although during the demolition phase, school parking for 15-20 staff would be 
facilitated at the nearby Springhead School. Staff would then use an organised minibus 
provided by the school to reach the site. During the construction stage, contractors would 
only be able to access the site via the hospital's emergency access, whilst staff would 
continue to park on site. 

 
10.25 No objection has been raised by the LHA in regard to the modified access, parking 
facilities or road markings which meets highways specifications. Planning conditions are 
recommended which ensures that the specifications are met prior to the new facility being 

Page 30



Page 11 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

used. It has been acknowledged by the local highway authority that the presence of the 
nearby Graham School often results in congestion on Woodlands Drive due to the volume 
of traffic. To avoid obstructing the school access, a new 'Keep Clear' road marking has 
been requested by highways. Details of which have been submitted and agreed with 
colleagues in Highways. 

 
10.26 Additionally, it has been requested by the LHA that a pedestrian crossing is formed 
over Woodlands Drive. The developer has made it clear from an early stage.The funding 
for the development is provided through the Department for Education (DfE)'s school 
rebuilding programme, which is solely for the rebuilding of schools and doesn't cover 
funding for ancillary off-site works. The argument has been accepted by the LHA and the 
crossing is seen as desired, but not an essential request, which would justify a direct 
objection to the scheme. The LPA shares this view and notes that the staff and pupil 
numbers are not increasing, yet the parking provision is increasing. This would suitably 
cater for staff members to park on site without needing to cross Woodlands Drive. The 
new pedestrian access proposed at the midpoint of the site would be for a limited number 
of staff who would likely arrive by bus on Scalby Road, utilising the existing crossing to the 
East. As such, it is unlikely that such users would need to cross Woodlands Drive to reach 
the site. 

 
10.27 It has also been explained that there are also other significant restrictions to 
constructing a level crossing on Woodlands Drive such as the sloped banking, which 
would require significant excavation work. Visibility would also be a concern and the 
presence of trees and their rooting systems which would need to be protected. On 
balance, the installation of a crossing would potentially lead to greater harm than the 
limited benefits would present. 

 
10.28 The developer has submitted a detailed phased construction management plan 
showing where construction workers and staff are directed to park, and are unable to park. 
This will be conditioned and the development will be undertaken in strict accordance with 
this document. Contact details of the developer will be made available on hoardings for 
residents to make contact regarding parking issues. 

 
10.29 Subject to conditions, no highways concerns has been raised to the development 
which is considered to be acceptable in terms of highways safety, subject to conditions. 

 
Impact on Trees 

 
10.30 The site contains 33 individual trees, 23 groups and two hedges within/close to the 
school site boundary. None of the trees on site benefit from statutory protection but a tree 
survey has been submitted which outlines the categorisation of said trees. 1 individual tree 
and 6 groups are high quality, category A trees, and 14 trees and 9 groups are moderate 
quality, category B trees. Trees in category A should be retained and protected due to their 
high quality and positive impact on the character of the area. Category B trees are medium 
specimens but still make a positive impact on the local environment. It is preferable to 
retain category B trees, although they can be considered for removal to make way for 
development subject to a replanting scheme to mitigate the loss. Category C trees are of 
low value which offer some landscaping or visual benefits but have failed to thrive. 
Category C trees are generally suitable for removal to make way for development. 
Category U trees are trees that are recommended to be removed immediately. 

Page 31



Page 12 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

10.31 The proposed development seeks to remove 4 trees and 1 group of Category B 
trees, and 13 trees and 1 group of Category C trees. A 7m section of a Category C 
hedgerow would also require removal. This is a total of 17 individual trees, mostly category 
C, and 3 groups including the hedgerow. 

 
10.32 To mitigate the loss of trees, a replanting scheme is proposed which includes the 
planting of 54 trees which is a 3:1 ratio of replaced trees compared to the individual trees 
which are to be removed. 

 
10.33 The Arboricultural Officer has been consulted on the proposed development and 
has not objected based on the information provided. The LPA shares this view and feels 
that the replanting scheme is appropriate and would mitigate the loss of trees on site to a 
level which is acceptable. 

 
10.34 In terms of protecting trees on site, tree root protection area (RPA) is shown around 
the majority of the retained trees which would be protected from construction works by 
appropriate tree protective barrier fencing. A planning condition would ensure that the tree 
planting and retention plan is adhered to throughout the entirety of the development. The 
preliminary arboricultural method statement outlines where the tree protective barrier 
would be located and what type of fencing is proposed. 

 
10.35 The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of its impact on 
trees. 

 
Flood Risk 

 
10.36 The site is located in Flood Zone 1, indicating that is at low risk of flooding with a 
0.1% annual probability of flooding. Given the application is a major development, it has 
been supported by a Site-Specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). The FRA indicates that 
there would be an increase in impermeable areas on site and recommendations are made 
in terms of further investigations which need to confirm the discharge point of the existing 
foul water manhole, and future earthworks consider the proposed overland flow route and 
ultimate outfall point for the surface water drainage. 

 
10.37 Colleagues at the LLFA have been consulted on the proposed development and 
initially requested further information on several matters, as outlined in the FRA, which 
were since provided by the applicant. Upon receipt and assessment of these documents, 
no objection was raised by the LLFA subject to adherence to the plans. 

 
10.38 Yorkshire Water has been consulted on the proposal and did not raise an objection 
subject to additional information relating to water supply and piped discharge of surface 
water from the development which should be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. Effectively, this has already occurred and the LLFA have not objected 
to the additional information subject to the details being adhered to. Yorkshire Water has 
been consulted again on the proposal but did not provide any additional comments. It is 
considered that the wording of Yorkshire Water's conditions indicates that the details 
should be acceptable to the Local Planning Authority, after consultation with the LLFA. As 
indicated above, no objection has been raised and it is considered that the development 
does not present any concerns with flood or environmental risk. 

Page 32



Page 13 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

10.39 The proposed development is considered to be in compliance with Local Plan 
Policy ENV3: Environmental Risk and is acceptable in terms of Flood Risk. 

 
Renewable Energy 

 
10.40 The development includes the installation of solar panels (photovoltaic) on the 
rooftop of the proposed school building. These would cover the majority of the rooftop, 
slightly sloped with a pitch of 10-15 degrees to maximise their efficiency. There are no 
specific local plan policies which relate to the installation of solar panels on rooftops of 
existing and new buildings. Although, ENV1 relates to low carbon and renewable energy, 
stating that this type of development is supported where it can be demonstrated that the 
proposal would not, either individually or cumulatively, have an unacceptable impact on 
several considerations. The most pertinent to the application would be the impact on 
residential amenity, aircraft, radar and telecommunications. The impact through glare and 
glint is also a primary consideration due to the close proximity of the adjacent hospital 
helipad which lies c.250m to the West of the proposed building. A glare and glint 
assessment has been submitted to support the development. This outlines that there is a 
moderate to high magnitude of possible glare at certain time periods, at various stages in 
the year. Although this is limited to a short period in the morning - generally from 05:15am 
to 08:30am. 

 
10.41 Mitigation measures have been included within the assessment such as anti- 
reflective coating, glass surface texturing and that a glare and glint emergency response 
plan is prepared. The specifications of the solar panels outlines that the panels have anti- 
reflective coating, and an emergency glint and glare response plan has been submitted. 
The plan includes annual review of the positioning of the panels and discussions with the 
helipad operators as to whether glint and glare has occurred. Glint and glare monitoring 
would also take place, alongside measures for complaints being raised by helicopter 
operators. 

 
10.42 The outlined mitigation measures are considered to be appropriate to the 
development and would significantly limit the glare/glint impact on the operators of the 
neighbouring helipad. Planning conditions would ensure that the approved specifications 
of the panels would be retained for the lifetime of the development and that the mitigation 
measures are adhered to. The proposed development is considered to be in compliance 
with Local Plan Policy ENV1 and is acceptable in terms of the impact of the renewable 
energy measures. 

 
Impact on Open Space and Recreation 

 
10.43 Local Plan Policy HC14 supports the creation of high-quality open spaces and 
sports facilities, and the redevelopment of existing open spaces providing that the 
replacement open space is of an equal or higher quantity and quality. Paragraph 103 in 
the NPPF refers to existing open space, sport and recreational facilities, including playing 
fields, and that they should not be built on unless one of several exceptions are met. This 
includes the loss from the proposed development which should be replaced by equivalent 
or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location. 

 
10.44 The redevelopment of the site would effectively remove the playing field on site to 
facilitate the placement of the new school. Sport England have been consulted on the 
proposed development, and also provided feedback during the pre-application enquiry 

Page 33



Page 14 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

stage. No objection was raised in respect of the application and it was acknowledged that 
the area of lost playing fields measures 0.5hectare, and the proposed playing field 
amounts to the same area (0.5 hectares). It is also acknowledged that the applicant has 
provided an audit of the existing playing field undertaken by a turf grass agronomist, which 
shows that it is of poor quality, with a significant slope, and that the replacement playing 
field to the West would be of higher quality. 

 
10.45 A 5v5 football pitch to FA recommended dimensions, repositioned rounder’s pitch, 
and a MUGA are all proposed A 5v5 football pitch to FA recommended dimensions is also 
proposed alongside external play equipment. These represent external/open space which 
is of an equal quantity to the existing facilities, and is of better quality. 

 
10.46 Given the above, Sport England have outlined that the proposed development 
meets exception E4 of Sport England's Playing Fields Policy and have not objected 
subject to conditions. 

 
10.47 The proposed development is in compliance Local Plan Policy HC14 and is 
acceptable in terms of open space provision. 

 
Other Matters 

 
10.48 North Yorkshire Police have been consulted on the proposed development and 
have not objected to the scheme; however further information has been requested. The 
further information has been supplied by the developer which was considered satisfactory 
by the Designing out Crime Officer. 

 
10.49 A dust control scheme has been recommended to be submitted and approved by 
condition by colleagues in Environmental Health, although this has been submitted up 
front to support the application. No objection has been raised subject to a condition which 
ensures the dust control scheme is adhered to. 

 
11.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 

 
11.1 The application site is in reference to Woodlands Academy, located on Woodlands 
Drive in Scarborough. It is located on the Western periphery of Scarborough, within the 
development limits. The surrounding area is predominantly residential, but has varied uses 
in the immediate vicinity, including Scarborough Hospital to the North. 

 
11.2 The proposed development is for the demolition of the existing school buildings on 
site, and erection of a replacement L-shaped school with solar panels on the rooftop. The 
remainder of the site is utilised for parking, external sports/recreation facilities and 
landscaping. The project is funded by the Department for Education (DfE) school 
rebuilding programme aimed at maintaining and improving the condition of schools 
throughout the country. The development would be phased with the existing school kept 
open whilst the new school building is being constructed. The principle of new and/or 
improved education facilities is supported through Local Plan Policy HC10. 

 
11.3 The development does not include additional vehicular accesses into the site, with 
the existing access in the South-West being altered to highways specifications, leading to 
an increased and modified parking area catering for a total of 51 spaces, with minibus 
spaces and drop-off/pick-up facilities. Construction traffic would access the site via the 

Page 34



Page 15 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

emergency access for the hospital to the North of the site, whilst the existing access to the 
South would remain open for the existing school. The staff and pupil numbers would 
remain unchanged through the development. The LHA have been involved with the 
proposed development and initially raised some queries with the development and 
requested further details. No highways objection was received subject to conditions. 

 
11.4 The proposed school building would be re-positioned to the Eastern side of the site, 
bringing it closer to properties on Quaker Close, however separation distances are 
considered to be sufficient to Quaker Close and to the other properties on the South side 
of Woodlands Drive in terms of direct amenity impacts. The external play and sports 
facilities are too at a significant distance from nearby residential properties and the noise 
impact would not be detrimental. The Glare and Glint Assessment outlines that the 
proposed impact of the solar panels is limited to residential properties and no specific 
mitigation measures are recommended. 

 
11.5 Biodiversity net gain requirements (minimum 10%) became law in January 2024 for 
major developments. A series of ecological documents have been submitted and 
assessed by the Council's Ecologist, with no objection raised. The biodiversity 
enhancements on site are sufficient and would be covered through a planning condition. 
The statutory biodiversity gain plan pre-commencement condition would be attached 
should the application be approved. 

 
11.6 The development would require a small number of trees to be removed, however a 
replanting scheme has been included within the submission. The individual trees to be 
removed would be replanted on a 3:1 basis and no objection was raised by the Council's 
Arboricultural Officer. The retained trees and their rooting systems would be protected 
from damage during construction works. 

 
11.7 Other consultees have responded to the application, none of which have raised an 
objection to the proposed development subject to conditions. 

 
11.8 The proposed development is considered to be in compliance with relevant Local 
and National Planning Policies and it is the Case officer's recommendation that permission 
is granted subject to conditions. 

 
12.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
12.1 That Permission be granted subject to conditions 

 
 

1  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
following plans, as amended: 
- Site Location Plan (Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0003 P02) 
- Proposed Site/Block Plan (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0031 P01) 
- Illustrative masterplan (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0001-P08) 
- General Arrangement Ground Floor Plan (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-SPA-Z1-00- 
D-A-0102-P15-GA) 
- General Arrangement First Floor Plan (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-SPA-Z1-01-D-A- 
0112-P14) 
- General Arrangement Roof Plan (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-SPA-Z1-RF-D-A- 
0131-P08) 

Page 35



Page 16 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

- Elevation Treatment (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-SPA-Z1-XX-D-A-0200 P02) 
- General Arrangement Building Elevations South and West (Dwg. Ref. 
SRP1095-SPA-Z1-XX-D-A-0202-P15) 
- General Arrangement Building Elevations North and East (Dwg. Ref. 
SRP1095 Z1-XX-D-A-0201-P12) 
- 3D External Views (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-SPA-Z1-XX-D-A-8501 P02 
- 3D Internal Views (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-SPA-Z1-XX-D-A-8511-P02) 
- Site Sections (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0014-P02) 
- Site Sections to Quaker House Sheet 1 of 2 (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ- 
ZZ-D-L-0022 P03) 
- Site Sections to Quaker House Sheet 2 of 2 (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ- 
ZZ-D-L-0026 P03) 
- Substation Plans and Elevations (Dwg. Ref. 3981-001 P01) 
- Detailed Landscape General Arrangement 1 (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ- 
ZZ-D-L-0010-P04) 
- Detailed Landscape General Arrangement 2 (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ- 
ZZ-D-L-0011-P04) 
- Tree Retention and Removal Plan (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L- 
0019) 
- Planting Strategy (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0021-P02) 
- Electrical Services PV Roof Plan (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-DES-XX-RF-D-E- 
6900-P04) 
- Lighting Strategy Layout (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-DES-XX-ZZ-D-E-6310-P04) 
- Fencing General arrangement sheet 1 of 2 (Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L- 
0012-S2-P04) 
- Fencing General Arrangement sheet 2 of 2 (Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L- 
0013-S2-P04) 
- 2.4m Weldmesh fencing with hedgehog gap (Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-SK- 
L-0038-P01) 
- Proposed photovoltaic (PV) panel (Ref. SRP1095-DES-XX-ZZ-T-Z-6110 
P02) Produced by Desco, dated 1st March 2024 
- Ventilation & Extract Details (Ref. SRP1095-DES-ZZ-ZZ-T-Z-5015 P02) 
Produced by Desco Dated 15th March 2024 
- Planning Statement (Ref. SRP1095-AYL-ZZ-ZZ-T-T-0003-S2-P01) Produced 
by Avison Young Dated March 2024 
- Proposed Utilities and underground infrastructure (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-DES- 
Z0-ZZ-D-Z-9600-P06) 
- Demolition Plan (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-SPA-ZZ-XX-D-A-9001 P02) 
- Design & Access Statement (Ref. SRP1095-SPA-ZZ-XX-T-A-0002-P02) 
Received on 15th May 2024 
- Travel Plan (Ref. 332610570-TP01, Produced by Stantec Dated March 
2024) 
- Biodiversity Enhancement Management Plan (V2, Produced by OS Ecology, 
dated March 2024) Received on 19th March 2024 
- Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment (V3, Produced by OS Ecology, dated 
March 2024, received on 19th March 2024 
- Construction Environment Management Plan (V2, Produced by OS Ecology, 
Dated March 2024) Received on 19th March 2024 
- Ecological Enhancements (Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-SK-L-0037 S2 P01) 
Received on 14th May 2024 

Page 36



Page 17 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

- Ecological Impact Assessment (V3, Produced by OS Ecology dated March 
2024) Received on 19th March 2024 
- Preliminary Arboricultural Method Statement (Ref. 1052317 Rev. B) 
Produced by RSK ADAS Limited Dated March 2024 
- Temporary Access Works (Ref. SRP1095-ACE-Z0-ZZ-D-C-2201-P4) 
Received on 19th June 2024 
- Construction and Demolition Method Statement (Ref. SRP1095-GTC-XX-XX- 
T-X-0121 P07 Dated 6th June 2024) Received on 19th June 2024 
- Supplementary Construction Management Plan (Ref. SRP1095-GTC-XX-XX- 
T-X-0122 P01 Dated 10th June 2024) Received on 19th June 2024 
- Temporary Drainage Works (Ref. C-GA-01 Rev A, Dated 25th June 2024) 
- Overland Flow Plan (Produced by Galliford Try, Rf. SRP1095-ACE-ZO-ZZ-D- 
C-1020-P1) Dated 25th June 2024 
- Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (Ref 00.22005-ACE-Z0-ZZ- 
RP-C-0004 Rev. P05) Produced by Adept Dated 13th June 2024 
- Phase 2 - Geo-environmental and geotechnical investigation (Ref. 1922181- 
R02-00) Produced by RSK Geosciences dated 23rd March 2022 
- Bat Emergence Survey Report (Ref. 2485683, Produced by RSK Biocensus 
Dated August 2023) 
- Glint & Glare emergency response plan (Dated 19th April 2024) 

- Existing Junction amendments (SRP1095-ACE-Z0-ZZ-D-C-2200 Rev. 
P4 Received on 18th June 2024) 
- Dust Management Plan SRP1095-GTC-XX-XX-T-X-0120 Rev. P01 Dated 4th 
June 2024 

 
Reason For the avoidance of doubt. 

 
2 The amended access to the site at The Woodlands Academy, Woodlands Drive, 

shall be set out and constructed in accordance with the specification for Housing 
and Industrial Estate Roads and Private Street Works published by the Local 
Highway Authority. 

 
Reason In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Local Plan Policy 
INF1: Transport and DEC1: Principles of Good Design. 

 
3 The crossing of the highway verge and/or footway must be constructed in 

accordance with the approved details and/or standard detail number A1 as per 
submitted drawing GallifordTry-SRP1095-ACE-Z0-ZZ-D-C-2200 Rev. P4. All works 
must strictly adhere to the approved details for the lifetime of the development 
unless approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Local Plan Policy 
INF1: Transport and DEC1: Principles of Good Design. 

 
4 Precise details of the following off-site highway mitigation measures shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to above 
ground works relating to the erection of the new school building: 

 
- Existing junction amendments at The Woodlands Academy, Woodlands 
Drive, Scarborough, 

Page 37



Page 18 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

- Minor works connecting the new pedestrian access onto the existing footway 
network at The Woodlands Academy, Woodlands Drive, Scarborough, 
- Additional road markings on Woodlands Drive to protect the access to the 
school, as agreed with the Local Highways Authority. 

 
The precise details shall include full engineering drawings and a programme for the 
delivery of each of the aforementioned mitigation measures. The mitigation 
measures shall be delivered in accordance with the approved programme and 
details. For each scheme of off-site highway mitigation, except for investigative 
works, no excavation or other groundworks or the depositing of material on site in 
connection with the construction of any scheme of off-site highway mitigation or any 
structure or apparatus which will lie beneath that scheme must take place, until full 
detailed engineering drawings of all aspects of that scheme including any structures 
which affect or form part of the scheme have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Local Plan Policy 
INF1: Transport and DEC1: Principles of Good Design. 

 
5 The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and surface 

water on and off site. The separate systems should extend to the points of 
discharge into the sewer network. 

 
Reason To ensure that no surface water discharges take place until proper 
provision has been made for its disposal, in accordance with Local Plan Policy 
ENV3: Environmental Risk. 

 
6 The flowrate from the drainage infrastructure draining the site of its surface water 

shall not exceed 47.04 litres per second. The drainage infrastructure draining the 
site of its surface water shall include on-site storage to accommodate the minimum 
1 in 100 year plus climate change critical storm event, with 40% allowance included 
for climate change for the lifetime of the development. 

 
Reason To ensure that the development is built to the submitted drainage design; to 
prevent the increased risk of flooding; to ensure the provision of adequate and 
sustainable means of drainage in the interests of amenity, in accordance with Local 
Plan Policy ENV3: Environmental Risk. 

 
7 The multi-use games area hereby permitted shall not be constructed other than 

substantially in accordance with Sport England/National Governing Body Technical 
Design Guidance Notes: Artificial Surfaces for Outdoor Sport guide. 

 
Reason To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to accord 
with Development Plan Policy HC14: Open Space and Sports Facilities. 

 
8 Prior to the multi-use games area and new grass playing field being brought into 

use, a Community Use Scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, after consultation with Sport England. The scheme shall 
include details of pricing policy, hours of use, access by non-members, 
management responsibilities and include a mechanism for review. The scheme 
should also include details of how the security of the premises will be managed 

Page 38



Page 19 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

during out of office hours periods, including staffing arrangements, emergency 
response and how any use of the building will be segregated to comply with 
designing out crime measures. The approved Scheme shall be implemented upon 
the multi-use games area and new grass playing field being brought into use. 

 
Reason To secure well managed safe community access to the sports facility, to 
ensure sufficient benefit to the development and to accord with Local Plan Policy 
HC14: Open Space and Sports Facilities. 

 
9 Prior to construction of the new playing fields, the following documents shall 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, after 
consultation with Sport England: 
a. A detailed assessment of ground conditions (including drainage and 
topography) of the land proposed for the new playing field as shown on drawing 
number SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0001 P08, which identifies constraints which 
could affect playing field quality; and 
b. Based on the results of the assessment to be carried out pursuant to the 
above, a detailed scheme which ensures that the playing field will be provided to an 
acceptable quality. The scheme shall include a written specification of soil structure, 
proposed drainage, cultivation and other operations associated with grass and 
sports turf establishment and a programme of implementation. The approved 
scheme shall be carried out in full before the new playing field is brought into use. 
The land shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the scheme and made 
available for playing field use in accordance with the scheme. 

 
Reason To ensure that the playing field is prepared to an adequate standard and is 
fit for purpose and to accord with Local Plan Policy HC14: Open Space and Sports 
Facilities. 

 
10 The external materials of the proposed development hereby approved shall strictly 

adhere to the materials schedule outlined on the following plans and submitted 
information: 
- Elevation Treatment (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-SPA-Z1-XX-D-A-0200 P02) 
- General Arrangement Building Elevations South and West (Dwg. Ref. 
SRP1095-SPA-Z1-XX-D-A-0202-P15) 
- General Arrangement Building Elevations North and East (Dwg. Ref. 
SRP1095 Z1-XX-D-A-0201-P12) 
The external materials shall be retained in line with the approved plans for the 
lifetime of the development. 

 
Reason In the interest of visual amenity, in line with Local Plan Policy DEC1: 
Principles of Good Design. 

 
11 The solar panels hereby approved shall meet the specifications and be positioned 

on the rooftop of the school building in strict accordance with the following approved 
plans: 
- Proposed Photovoltaic (PV) panel (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-DES-XX-ZZ-T-Z- 
6110 Rev. P02) 
- Electrical services PV roof plan (Dwg. Ref. SRP1095-DES-XX-RF-D-E-6900 
Rev. P04) 

Page 39



Page 20 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

The photovoltaic (PV) panels shall be retained to the approved specifications and 
plans, for the lifetime of the development, unless alternative details or arrangements 
are agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason In the interest of visual amenity, in accordance with Local Plan Policy 
DEC1: Principles of Good Design. 

 
12 The proposed development hereby approved shall strictly adhere to the mitigation 

and compensation measures outlined in section 4.21 in the Bat Emergence Survey 
(Ref 2485683 Produced by RSK Biocensus, dated August 2023). The mitigation 
and enhancement measures outlined in the document shall be implemented prior to 
the completion of the development, in line with the phasing plans included within the 
approved Construction and Demolition Method Statement (Ref. SRP1095-GTC-XX- 
XX-T-X-0121 P07 Dated 6th June 2024) received on 19th June 2024. 

 
Reason To mitigate against any adverse impacts on species and habitats, in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy ENV5: The Natural Environment. 

 
13 Prior to the completion of the development, in line with the phasing plans included 

within the approved Construction and Demolition Method Statement (Ref. 
SRP1095-GTC-XX-XX-T-X-0121 P07 Dated 6th June 2024) received on 19th June 
2024, the proposed landscaping outlined within the following plans and documents: 
- Planting Strategy (Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0021 Rev. P02 Revised on 
20th March 2024) 
- Detailed Landscape general arrangement 1 (Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L- 
0010 P04 
- Detailed Landscape general arrangement 2 (Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L- 
0011 P04 
shall be implemented in its entirety. All trees, shrubs and bushes shall be 
maintained by the owner or owners of the land on which they are situated for the 
period of five years beginning with the date of completion of the scheme and during 
that period all losses shall be made good as and when necessary, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. 

 
Reason In the interest of visual amenity, and biodiversity, in accordance with Local 
Plan Policy DEC1: Principles of Good Design and ENV5: The Natural Environment. 

 
14 The parking area and vehicular manoeuvring area within the site shall be hard 

surfaced, in accordance with the details presented in the approved plans as 
outlined in condition 1 of this decision prior to the completion of the development, in 
line with the phasing plans included within the approved Construction and 
Demolition Method Statement (Ref. SRP1095-GTC-XX-XX-T-X-0121 P07 Dated 6th 
June 2024) received on 19th June 2024. The hard surfacing shall be retained for 
the lifetime of the development. 

 
Reason In the interest of visual amenity and highways safety, in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy DEC1: Principles of Good Design. 

 
15 No development including demolition and/or construction works shall take place 

outside 8am-6pm Mondays to Fridays, 8am-1pm on Saturdays or at any time on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays. Any variation to the hours of operation shall be 

Page 40



Page 21 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
agreed change being implemented. 

 
Reason To protect the amenity of existing and future residents, in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy DEC4: Protection of Amenity. 

 
16 The proposed development hereby approved shall be undertaken in strict 

accordance with the tree protection measures outlined in Sections 5.1-5.7.3 and the 
details enclosed within the appendices of the Preliminary Arboricultural Method 
Statement (Ref. 1052317 Rev. B, Produced by ADAS Dated March 2024), unless 
any variations are agreed in advance in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason In the interest of visual amenity, and to protect the trees on site, in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy DEC1: Principles of Good Design and ENV5: 
The Natural Environment. 

 
17 The proposed development hereby approved shall be undertaken in strict 

accordance with the recommendations in sections 1.61-1.63 of the Ecological 
Impact Assessment (V3 Produced by OS Ecology Dated March 2024) and the 
details included within the ecological enhancements plan (Ref. SRP1095-ALA-ZZ- 
ZZ-SK-L-0037 Rev. P01), prior to the completion of development, in line with the 
phasing plans included within the approved Construction and Demolition Method 
Statement (Ref. SRP1095-GTC-XX-XX-T-X-0121 P07 Dated 6th June 2024) 
received on 19th June 2024 

 
Reason In the interest in supporting biodiversity on site and within the area, in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy ENV5: The Natural Environment. 

 
18 The proposed development hereby approved shall strictly adhere to the dust 

emission prevention measures (Section 6) and dust emission response measures 
(Section 7) and Complaints (Section 8) outlined in the Dust Management Plan (Ref. 
SRP1095-GTC-XX-XX-T-X-0120, Dated 4th June 2024). 

 
Reason To protect the amenity of existing and future residents, and to mitigate 
against the implications of environmental risk, in accordance with Local Plan Policy 
DEC4: Protection of Amenity and ENV3: Environmental Risk. 

 
19 The staff and pupil cycle facilities shown on the approved plans outlined in condition 

1 of this decision notice shall be provided in a shelter prior to the first occupation of 
the new school building hereby approved and shall be retained on site for the 
lifetime of the development. 

 
Reason To encourage the use of sustainable transport, in accordance with Local 
Plan Policy INF3: Sustainable Transport and Travel Plans. 

 
 
 

Notes 
 

1 Biodiversity Net Gain 

Page 41



Page 22 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is 
deemed to have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain 
condition") that development may not begin unless: 
(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan. 
The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a 
Biodiversity Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be 
[North Yorkshire Council]. 
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean tat the 
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are listed below. 
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which 
will require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun 
because none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements listed below 
are considered to apply. 

 
Statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements in respect of the biodiversity 
gain condition 
1. The application for planning permission was made before 12 February 2024. 
2. The planning permission relates to development to which section 73A of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (planning permission for development already 
carried out) applies. 
3. The planning permission was granted on an application made under section 73 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
(i) the original planning permission to which the section 73 planning permission 
relates* was granted before 12 February 2024; or 
(ii) the application for the original planning permission* to which the section 73 
planning permission relates was made before 12 February 2024. 
4. The permission which has been granted is for development which is exempt 
being: 
4.1 Development which is not 'major development' (within the meaning of article 
2(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015) where: 
i) the application for planning permission was made before 2 April 2024; 
ii) planning permission is granted which has effect before 2 April 2024; or 
iii) planning permission is granted on an application made under section 73 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 where the original permission to which the 
section 73 permission relates* was exempt by virtue of (i) or (ii). 
4.2 Development below the de minimis threshold, meaning development which: 
i) does not impact an onsite priority habitat (a habitat specified in a list 
published under section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006); and 
ii) impacts less than 25 square metres of onsite habitat that has biodiversity 
value greater than zero and less than 5 metres in length of onsite linear habitat (as 
defined in the statutory metric). 
4.3 Development which is subject of a householder application within the 
meaning of article 2(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. A "householder application" means 
an application for planning permission for development for an existing 
dwellinghouse, or development within the curtilage of such a dwellinghouse for any 

Page 42



Page 23 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse which is not an application 
for change of use or an application to change the number of dwellings in a building. 
4.4 Development of a biodiversity gain site, meaning development which is 
undertaken solely or mainly for the purpose of fulfilling, in whole or in part, the 
Biodiversity Gain Planning condition which applies in relation to another 
development, (no account is to be taken of any facility for the public to access or to 
use the site for educational or recreational purposes, if that access or use is 
permitted without the payment of a fee). 
4.5 Self and Custom Build Development, meaning development which: 
i) consists of no more than 9 dwellings; 
ii) is carried out on a site which has an area no larger than 0.5 hectares; and 
iii) consists exclusively of dwellings which are self-build or custom 
housebuilding (as defined in section 1(A1) of the Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding Act 2015). 
4.5 Development forming part of, or ancillary to, the high speed railway transport 
network (High Speed 2) comprising connections between all or any of the places or 
parts of the transport network specified in section 1(2) of the High Speed Rail 
(Preparation) Act 2013. 

 
* "original planning permission means the permission to which the section 73 
planning permission relates" means a planning permission which is the first in a 
sequence of two or more planning permissions, where the second and any 
subsequent planning permissions are section 73 planning permissions. 
The effect of section 73D of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Irreplaceable habitat 

If the onsite habitat includes irreplaceable habitat (within the meaning of the 
Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Irreplaceable Habitat) Regulations 2024) there are 
additional requirements for the content and approval of Biodiversity Gain Plans. 
The Biodiversity Gain Plan must include, in addition to information about steps 
taken or to be taken to minimise any adverse effect of the development on the 
habitat, information on arrangements for compensation for any impact the 
development has on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat. 
The planning authority can only approve a Biodiversity Gain Plan if satisfied that the 
adverse effect of the development on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat is 
minimised and appropriate arrangements have been made for the purpose of 
compensating for any impact which do not include the use of biodiversity credits. 

 
The effect of section 73D of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

 
If planning permission is granted on an application made under section 73 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (application to develop land without 
compliance with conditions previously attached) and a Biodiversity Gain Plan was 
approved in relation to the previous planning permission ("the earlier Biodiversity 
Gain Plan") there are circumstances when the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan is 
regarded as approved for the purpose of discharging the biodiversity gain condition 
subject to which the section 73 planning permission is granted. 
Those circumstances are that the conditions subject to which the section 73 
permission is granted: 

Page 43



Page 24 of 24  

OFFICIAL 

i) do not affect the post-development value of the onsite habitat as specified in 
the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan, and 
ii) in the case of planning permission for a development where all or any part of 
the onsite habitat is irreplaceable habitat the conditions do not change the effect of 
the development on the biodiversity of that onsite habitat (including any 
arrangements made to compensate for any such effect) as specified in the earlier 
Biodiversity Gain Plan. 

 
2 The applicant is advised that the scheme should comply with the relevant industry 

technical guidance, including guidance published by Sport England, National 
Governing bodies for sport. Particular attention is drawn to 'Natural Turf for Sport' 
(Sport England, 2011). 

 
3 Yorkshire Water's mapping records indicate that water mains along Woodlands 

Drive may be affected by the proposed highway alterations. 
a.) The position of apparatus shown on our plans is indicative only. The exact 
position and depth of the apparatus can only be determined by excavation. 
b.) Any conflict between the road construction and the water main can be resolved 
in accordance with the New Roads and Street Works Act and the HAUC Code of 
Practice Measures Necessary Where Apparatus is Affected by Major Works 
(Diversionary Works). 
c.) Under Section 84 of the New Roads and Street Works Act Yorkshire Water as a 
statutory undertaker is entitled to take such steps as deemed necessary to protect 
its interests in its apparatus. 

 
4 It is the developer's responsibility to ensure that highway alterations do not affect 

the water main. In the event of a conflict between the water main and highway 
construction the developer should apply for a mains diversion via the Developer 
Services section of the Yorkshire Water website: 
https://www.yorkshirewater.com/developers/water/water-maindiversion/ 

 
5 The works associated with the re-modelling of the existing junction and the creation 

of the new pedestrian access are to be undertaken under a Section 184 licence 
delivered through the local Highways Area Office. 

 
6 The specification for housing and industrial estate roads and private street works 

published by North Yorkshire County Council as the Local Highway Authority, is 
available to download from the County Council's web site: Road adoption. 

 
 

Target Determination Date: 14 June 2024 

Case Officer: Nathan Denman 
nathan.denman@northyorks.gov.uk 

Page 44

http://www.yorkshirewater.com/developers/water/water-maindiversion/
mailto:nathan.denman@northyorks.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Minutes for the Meeting held on 9 May 2024
	4 (ZF24/00326/FL) - Full application for formation of secure dog walking facility with associated parking and access at land south-east of Main Street, Irton, Scarborough, North Yorkshire
	5 (ZF24/00464/RG4) - Full application for demolition of existing buildings and erection of new two-storey school building (including solar panels on flat roof), with associated car parking, landscaping, hard court MUGA, playing field, sprinkler tank, bin store and substation at Woodlands School, Woodlands Drive, Scarborough, North Yorkshire, YO12 6QN

